1962

# Julia Harris v. Elmo L. Harris : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an action upon a petition and order to show cause why the Defendant should not be punished for failure to pay support money payments in the amount of \$4,605.00 and for judgment in that amount and attorneys' fees. Defendant pleaded an affirmative defense to the prayer for judgment alleging that the Plaintiff had told the Defendant that if the Defendant would pay certain creditors of Plaintiff and Defendant to prevent them from garnisheeing her wages and so long as Defendant satisfied said creditors and paid as much as he could reasonably afford for support money for the children that the Plaintiff would expect no more, and that had Plaintiff not so agreed Defendant would have petitioned

for a modification of the decree of divorce to reduce the amount payable as support money, and that Plaintiff should be estopped to seek a judgment against the Defendant for \$4,605.00, or for any amount. Defendant cross-petitioned for a modification of the decree of divorce to reduce the support money payable for the support of the minor children of the parties from \$50.00 per month each to \$35.00 per month each, alleging changed circumstances, to wit: That at the time of the entry of the decree of divorce, Plaintiff was unemployed, but within two or three months thereafter she obtained steady employment for which she has received in excess of \$250.00 per month ever since.

### DISPOSITION OF THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the Court and the Court entered a judgment in favor of the Plaintiff for \$4,500.00 delinquent support money and \$100.00 attorneys' fees. The Court found the Defendant guilty of contempt of court and sentenced the Defendant to serve thirty days in the county jail and denied Defendant's petition for modification of the decree of divorce. From such denial of Defendant's petition for modification of the decree of divorce and such judgment and sentence of the Court, Defendant appeals.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks reversal of the judgment and order of the Court and every part thereof, and a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

In February, 1956, when the decree of divorce was entered, Defendant was out of work, was financially embarrassed, and was suffering from a double hernia (R. 24). Between that time and the first of January, 1959, Defendant held four separate jobs for limited periods of time, but in each case was unable because of his physical condition to continue his work (R. 24-28). During that time he paid what he could to the Plaintiff for the support of the children (R. 26-26). One of the jobs so held by him was for a company known as All Plastics with whom he obtained a position by purchasing 1,500 shares of capital stock of the company with \$1,500.00 which he borrowed from his sister, Donna Petty, no part of which he has been able to repay (R. 27-28). While out of work he was obliged to depend upon his sister with whom he lived and who took care of him (R. 29). On January 1, 1959, Defendant was given a position with Sperry's after having an operation for the repair of his hernias, and he has worked continuously at Sperry's from that date until now (R. 28). The court stated at the conclusion of the evidence:

“The Defendant is in contempt since he has been working at Sperry's.” (R. 60)

Defendant's average income is now \$68.00 per week, \$300.00 per month take home pay (R. 28). Defendant has remarried and is living with his wife (R. 30).

Defendant's expenses are: \$10.00 per month payable to sister on \$2,000.00 of loans (R. 29); \$71.00 per

month rent; \$60.00 per month for groceries; \$16.00 per month for utilities; \$5.00 per month for barber; \$10.00 per month for clothes; \$8.00 per month for laundry (R. 30). He uses his wife's car, a 1955 Buick, which was purchased and paid for entirely by her. He maintains the automobile at a cost of \$35.00 to \$40.00 per month. It is necessary to his employment that he have access to an automobile (R. 31). He has been unable to pay a cent toward the purchase price of the automobile after paying his living expenses, \$60.00 per month to Plaintiff and \$10.00 per month to the children (R. 32).

The children are a boy, age fourteen, and a girl, age ten and a half. Defendant called and talked with the girl nearly every day until Plaintiff started this action. Ever since the divorce when in Salt Lake Defendant has visited with the children every week or every two weeks (R. 32).

Plaintiff was not working at the time of the divorce and had not worked at any time while they were married (R. 33). Within forty-five to sixty days after the divorce was granted, Plaintiff obtained employment (R. 33). Plaintiff's present income is \$325.00 per month, with take home pay of \$275.00 (R. 34). About six months after the divorce her wages were garnisheed. Defendant testified that Plaintiff told him that if he would keep their creditors "off her back" she would accept whatever he could afford. She would get fired if they garnisheed her wages (R. 36-37). She said she would be happy to accept whatever he could afford so long as he kept the creditors away from her place of business (R. 36). Defendant paid several creditors to protect Plaintiff (R. 37).

The Court sustained an objection to further testimony concerning bills paid by the Defendant to protect the Plaintiff. The Court stated:

“I don’t see that there would be any consideration for her trying to get him to pay the bills. Paragraph Six of the decree says he shall.” (R. 38)

Since those conversations Defendant testified that he has had happy relations with the Plaintiff until the month of the hearing, and that he thought she was satisfied the way things were going; she had never indicated that she would attempt to collect any unpaid support money (R. 38).

Since he has worked at Sperry’s he has not missed making a payment every month to the Plaintiff. During the last year or year and a half he has been paying \$60.00 per month (R. 38).

If Defendant’s wages are garnisheed he will lose his work. Two of his fellow employees have been discharged for garnishments (R. 39).

Defendant remarried in August, 1959. His present wife bought and paid for all furniture. She must contribute to maintenance of the home. She has accumulated no money since they were married (R. 40). Defendant stated that he can pay \$70.00 per month, the amount he has been paying Plaintiff and giving to the children.

If Plaintiff had not told Defendant that she would be satisfied if he paid their joint creditors and kept them



satisfied and paid as much as he could possibly afford, he would have secured an attorney and had the support money reduced to what he could pay (R. 42).

Defendant paid not a dime on the Buick automobile that his present wife bought (R. 44). The first month he was at Sperry's he gave Plaintiff \$40.00 and has never missed payment since (R. 45). In 1957 he took bankruptcy and discharged all obligations except those jointly owed by him and Plaintiff, about \$800.00 of obligations (R. 46).

Defendant's present wife pays nothing on rent or utilities but buys food from time to time. She earns \$220.00 per month take home pay (R. 46).

The son of the parties told Defendant that he makes \$40.00 per month from his paper route (R. 49).

Plaintiff testified that she has never since the entry of the decree of divorce, either orally or in writing, told the Defendant he did not have to pay the full amount of the money set forth in the decree, and that she has always asked him for more. She is living at 2222 Preston Street with the two children and her mother. Her sister is married and living in Sandy (R. 52). She does not think she can support the children on less than \$50.00 per month each (R. 52). Plaintiff is employed at Hercules Powder Company earning \$325.00 per month with \$275.00 per month take home pay (R. 53). She takes credit for the two children as her dependents (R. 53).

She is buying her home and paying \$91.00 per month

therefor. Her mother's income is \$102.00 per month. The mother pays \$60.00 per month into the household (R. 53). The house is in the name of the mother, sister and Plaintiff (R. 54). The sister paid \$100.00 per month for board and room and on the house. She made \$325.00 per month (R. 54). The boy earns an average of \$20.00 per month from his paper route (R. 55). Plaintiff has had repairs on the house; she has had appliances go out; the house needs painting; both of the children need an orthodontist; the boy has hay fever and needs a series of shots which are very expensive (R. 55).

Defendant has been carrying insurance on the children for medical expenses and they have had about \$800.00 of medical expenses paid by the insurance in the last year or two (R. 55-56). Medical insurance does not cover hay fever (R. 56). Plaintiff pays \$91.00 per month on the home, \$35.00 per week for food for herself, her mother and the two children, leaving \$200.00 per month for other things (R. 56).

Plaintiff was asked what other things she needs that require \$200.00, (R. 56). Thereupon, the Court interjected:

"I don't care to hear it. I know what it takes. I don't care what she takes otherwise \* \* \* If you want to confine it to what she needs for the kiddies, well and good, but what she needs for herself and her mother, I am not interested in it." (R. 56).

Plaintiff was then asked to tell what she thinks she requires besides food and the rent. She answered, "Since

my sister left I have to have a car.” (R. 56). The Court then interjected:

“I am not interested in what this lady has to have. She can be rich as Croesus. She is getting no alimony. I am only talking about the Defendant’s duty to support his kiddies, what she needs for the kids.” (R. 57).

Plaintiff testified that the boy had two front teeth broken half off which need to be repaired at a cost of about \$100.00 each. The daughter needs to go to an orthodontist for work to cost over \$200.00 (R. 57).

Plaintiff has taken no action of any kind against Defendant to collect anything more than the amounts he has been paying until within the last thirty days prior to trial. She stated that she has asked him every time she has seen him that she needs more money, but she has done nothing about any action (R. 59). Defendant testified that until the last thirty days Plaintiff has never complained about him not paying her enough money (R. 60).

Defendant offered the sister of the Defendant, Donna Petty, as a witness to testify that Plaintiff had told her that as long as the Defendant paid the bills and paid her what he could that she would be satisfied. The Court refused to permit the witness to testify and stated:

“That would be no consideration for that type of promise.” (R. 60)

## ARGUMENT

### POINT ONE

The trial court erred in entering judgment in favor of Plaintiff and against the Defendant for \$4,500.00. The court misapplied the law applicable to the point at issue.

Plaintiff sought a judgment for accrued and unpaid support money in the amount of \$4,605.00. The court awarded judgment for \$4,500.00. Defendant pleaded as a defense to the prayer for judgment that the Plaintiff told him shortly after the divorce was entered and after she had been garnisheed by a judgment creditor that if he would satisfy joint creditors and would pay her as much as he could afford that she would expect no more. He further pleaded that had the Plaintiff not done so he would have petitioned for a modification of the decree of divorce to reduce the amount ordered paid as support money, and that Plaintiff should be estopped to seek a judgment against him for \$4,605.00, or for any amount.

The Defendant testified in support of this allegation (R. 36-37). The Plaintiff denied that she had made such an agreement (R. 52).

The trial court obviously misapplied the law applicable to the point at issue. At one point Plaintiff objected to further testimony concerning the bills paid by the Defendant to protect the Plaintiff from garnisheeing creditors. The trial court sustained the objection, stating

“I don’t see that there would be any consideration for her trying to get him to pay the bills.

Paragraph Six of the decree says he shall." (R. 38).

Again Defendant offered the sister of the Defendant Donna Petty, as a witness to testify that the Plaintiff had told her that as long as the Defendant paid the bills and paid what he could that she would be satisfied. The Court refused to permit her to testify and stated:

"That would be no consideration for that type of promise." (R. 60).

It is Defendant's position that in such a matter the defense need not be founded upon consideration but is properly based upon estoppel.

In the case of *Larsen v. Larsen*, 5 Utah 2d 224, 300 P. 2d 596, the Court stated:

"A mother by her actions or representations or both may preclude herself from recovering pastdue installments of support money to reimburse her for the money which she has spent for the support of the children where the father's failure to make such payments was induced by her representation or action and where as a result of representations or actions the father has been lulled into changing his position which he would not have done but for such representations, and that as a result of such failure to pay and change in his condition it would cause him great hardship and injustice if she is allowed to enforce the payment of such back installments, she may be thereby *estopped* from enforcing the payment for such back installments."

The Defendant not only testified that the Plaintiff agreed to be satisfied with what he could pay in addition

to paying off joint obligations of the parties, but he also testified that until this proceeding was filed that she made no complaint of his inability to pay the full amount of \$100.00 per month and appeared to be satisfied with the payments he was making (R. 38). It is true that she testified that she complained every time she saw him that he was not paying enough (R. 59). He testified and she did not deny that until she filed her action he talked with the daughter practically every day on the telephone and visited the children of the parties once a week or at least every two weeks. The Defendant has been employed steadily since January, 1959, and she has not taken any action to obtain more than he has been paying or to obtain the full amount of the payments that have accrued until this proceeding was filed.

The Defendant cannot contend that the judgment of the court is not based upon competent evidence, but the great weight of the evidence is contrary to the statement of the Plaintiff that she did not agree to be satisfied so long as the Defendant paid joint creditors and paid as much as he could reasonably afford. Moreover, it is apparent that the Court misapplied the law applicable to this defense.

## POINT TWO

The trial court erred in refusing to permit the sister of the Defendant, Donna Petty, to testify that the Plaintiff had told her that so long as the Defendant paid joint obligations and paid what he could for the support of the children that she would be satisfied. The court mis-

applied the law applicable to the point at issue.

This assignment of error is discussed under Point One.

### POINT THREE

The Court erred in finding the Defendant guilty of contempt.

The Court stated that the Defendant was guilty of contempt for failure to pay the full amount of the support money during the time that he has been employed at Sperry's (R. 60). Thus, his actions prior to that time need not be discussed.

The testimony is that while he is at Sperry's he has earned from \$50.00 per week take home pay to \$68.00 per week take home pay (R. 28). During the period that he has been so employed he has never missed a payment even though his payments have not been the full amount ordered paid (R. 38). The evidence shows that at the present time his expenses are: \$10.00 per month payable to his sister on \$2,000.00 of loans (R. 29); \$71.00 per month rent; \$60.00 per month for groceries; \$16.00 per month for utilities; \$5.00 per month for barber; \$10.00 per month for clothes; \$8.00 per month for laundry (R. 30). He is obliged to maintain an automobile which was purchased and paid for entirely by his wife, at a cost to him of \$35.00 to \$40.00 per month (R. 31). He testified that after paying such expenses and \$60.00 per month to the Plaintiff and \$10.00 per month to the children (R. 32) that he has nothing left with which to pay more.

The foregoing payments total \$285.00 of his \$300.00 take home pay. It is apparent that the foregoing items of expense cannot cover all of his expenses as everyone has a multitude of expenses not embraced within the foregoing category of expenses.

In addition to Defendant paying Plaintiff \$60.00 per month and giving the children \$10.00 per month, the Plaintiff has received the benefit of taking the children as her dependents (R. 53). This gives her an additional \$20.00 or \$21.00 per month benefit as her income tax is reduced by that amount. Thus, the \$70.00 paid by Defendant and the \$20.00 which she has received the benefit of amounts to \$90.00 per month. In addition, without any order of Court so to do, the Defendant has maintained medical insurance upon the children and there has been paid by the insurer for the benefit of the children within the last year or two \$800.00 for medical expenses (R. 55-56), thus relieving the Plaintiff of these medical costs, which greatly exceed the remaining difference between \$90.00 per month and \$100.00 per month, or even a difference of \$30.00 a month during the last two years, which is the full amount of the difference between the \$70.00 per month which has been paid by the Defendant to the Plaintiff and the children and the \$100.00 ordered paid. It thus appears that she has received the benefit of at least \$100.00 per month during the past two years while he has been working for Sperry's.

Considering the further fact that he has been in daily communication with the daughter of the parties and has



seen the two children of the parties at least every two weeks and usually every week during the past years, it seems inconceivable that the Court would find the Defendant in contempt of court under such circumstances and commit the Defendant to jail for thirty days therefor. It is so contrary to the usual treatment accorded defendants in such a proceeding as the case at bar.

Furthermore, the Defendant will, no doubt, lose his work if he is required to spend thirty days in jail.

#### POINT FOUR

The trial court abused its discretion in committing the Defendant to jail for thirty days. The argument under Point Three is applicable to this point.

#### POINT FIVE

The trial court erred in denying the Defendant's petition for modification of the decree of divorce to reduce the amount of support money payable by the Defendant to the Plaintiff. The trial court misapplied the law applicable to the point at issue.

The evidence concerning the Defendant's ability to pay has been set forth under Points One and Three, *supra*. In addition, the evidence shows that from the time of the entry of the decree of divorce in February, 1956, to January, 1959, the Defendant was unable to maintain employment because of his physical condition. During that period of time his income was small when he did work

and during a large part of the time he was obliged to depend upon his sister to maintain him (R. 29). At the time of the entry of the Decree of Divorce Plaintiff was not employed and had not been since she was married to Defendant. Within two months thereafter, she obtained work and ever since has received from \$250.00 to \$325.00 per month (R. 28). This constitutes a material change of circumstances.

Here again the Court misapplied the law applicable to the point at issue.

The testimony showed that the Plaintiff is paying \$91.00 per month on the home in which she lives and \$35.00 per week for food for herself, her mother and her children, and that her income totals \$425.00 per month, including her take home pay of \$275.00, the boy's earnings of at least \$20.00 per month as she testified, the mother's contribution of \$60.00 per month, and the moneys which have been furnished by the Defendant totalling \$70.00 per month, leaving a balance after payment on the home and for food of \$190.00 per month.

The Plaintiff was asked what other things she needed that would require \$200.00 per month. Without objection of counsel the Court interjected:

“I don't care to hear it. I know what it takes. I don't care what she takes otherwise \* \* \* If you want to confine it to what she needs for the kid-dies, well and good, but what she needs for herself and her mother, I am not interested in it.” (R. 56)

Plaintiff was then asked to tell what she thinks she

requires besides food and rent. She answered, "Since my sister left I have to have a car." (R. 56). The Court again without objection of Plaintiff's counsel interjected:

"I am not interested in what this lady has to have. She can be rich as Croesus. She is getting no alimony. I am only talking about the Defendant's duty to support the kiddies, what she needs for the kids." (R. 57)

It appears that her income has been wholly adequate for the support of the children and herself as she made no testimony otherwise. Apparently she was satisfied until "Since my sister left I have to have a car."

It is the position of the Defendant that the mother owes an obligation to the children and that if the father's financial condition is such that he cannot live reasonably and pay the full amount necessary to support the children, the mother, being able, should assist in the support of the children.

The statement contained in *Wallace v. Wallace*, 9 Utah 2d 237, 342 P. 2d 103, is to the point:

"The fact that the marriage is terminated does not obliterate whatever results it may have produced. They cannot be wished away nor ignored. Both spouses continue to sustain some duties toward each other and to the children. It is important to remember that these duties do not all run one way; they are reciprocal and must be faced up to if the proper objective is to be served. The purpose of the divorce decree and of the conduct of the parties under it must be calculated toward the solution of existing problems and sus-

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