1962

Julia Harris v. Elmo L. Harris : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT 1.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ENTERING JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF PLAINTIFF AND AGAINST THE DEFENDANT FOR \$4500. FURTHER, THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT MISAPPLY THE LAW APPLICABLE TO SAID POINT IN ISSUE.

As set forth in plaintiff's Statement of Facts, the sum of \$4500 was agreed to by plaintiff and defendant in open court as the sum that judgment would be rendered for, if plaintiff was in fact entitled to judgment. Defendant's main contention is that the plaintiff was estopped to claim said judgment by reason of her actions. Plaintiff has set forth the testimony in full of the defendant with respect to what he claimed were the grounds for estoppel, and plaintiff refers the court to plaintiff's Statement of Fact. It should be remembered, however, that according to the defendant's own testimony there was but one conversation with the plaintiff with respect to these grounds for estoppel, and that was in June, July or August of 1956, and defendant's testimony was as follows:

"She just said that she knew I had been out of work and to give her whatever I could, any little amount would help, and that she was working now, and every bit I sent her would help a lot, and I would try and give her as much as I could."

Further, "Oh, she said she would sure like me

to keep these creditors off her back so that she wouldn't have no trouble with her work, and she would be perfectly happy to accept whatever I could afford as long as I kept these creditors away from her place of business because she said she would get fired if they came around there garnisheeing her wages." Further, "Is that the first time you had the conversations over this matter — that you keep the creditors off her back?"

"A. Yes, sir"

Further, "All right, now have you since this first conversation that you told us about had any further conversations concerning the matter of your relationships in regard to the payment of the support money for your children with your wife?"

"A. No, I have had happy relations up until this month. I thought she was satisfied the way things were going."

This is the only conversation which the defendant testified to by his own words in which anything was mentioned to the plaintiff with respect to his grounds for estoppel. Even as to this one conversation, the plaintiff denied ever having such a conversation and that her total conversation with the defendant at all times was "I need more money, can't you give me something more?" or words to this effect.

Until the defendant was employed at the Sperry Rand job, his employment was spasmodic and he was unable to maintain employment because of his

physical condition, which physical condition by the defendant's own testimony existed at the time the decree of divorce was entered. The trial court clearly believed the evidence as submitted by the plaintiff and without question did not believe the evidence testified to by defendant. The trial court found, as set forth in its Findings of Fact, that during the period of the delinquency plaintiff made constant, repeated demands upon defendant to make said support money payments. Under the doctrine recited in the case of *Price vs. Price*, 4 Utah 2d 153, 289 P. 2d 1044, this court held that if there was evidence adduced at the trial which it believed would support the trial court's award, then the judgment of the lower court could not be disturbed on appeal. It is interesting to note the comment of the court at page 154 of the Utah Reports:

"As to 1): Defendant recites facts testified to by him which he apparently assumes the court was required to consider as true, but it is obvious from the trial court's conclusion that the latter did not believe everything defendant said. Other evidence adduced, if believed, would support the award, and under familiar principles we cannot disturb the judgment in such event."

Further, defendant seems to take great comfort in the fact that while he was flitting from job to job and unable to hold employment because of his "physical condition" the fact that plaintiff did not

harass him was a conclusive presumption that the plaintiff waived her rights. Accordingly, the plaintiff is barred from recovering against defendant because of her actions. This court in the case of *Openshaw v. Openshaw*, 105 Utah 574, 144 P. 2d 528 at page 579 of the Utah reports states:

“But mere inaction or delay short of the period of limitations, in the enforcement of payment of an obligation already accrued, without more, is insufficient upon which to predicate laches.

“ ‘Laches is more than mere lapse of time; its essence is estoppel.’ *De Giovacchini v. Teich*, 133 N. J. Eq. 107, 30 A. 2d 815, 819. As stated by this court in *Burningham v. Burke et al*, 67 Utah 90, at page 107, 245 P. 977, at page 983, 46 A.L.R. 446: ‘While delay is an important factor, yet mere delay, unless unreasonable or inexcusable, is not enough; and of equal importance are the circumstances occurring during the delay, the relation of the parties to the subject, disadvantages that may have come through loss of evidence, change of title, intervention of equities, or injury from other causes.’

“In this case we have searched the record in vain for any evidence which would even tend to show that plaintiff misled defendant to his detriment, or in any other way did anything to injure defendant, make it difficult or impossible for him to comply with the order of the court, or persuaded him not to apply to the court for reduction of the award. The evidence adduced to the effect that on the few occasions when he visited the children and

their mother in California, the plaintiff did not harass him for payment or arrearages, is not sufficient upon which to conclude that she was guilty of laches. * * * *

“Nor does he show how he has been injured by her acting on the mistaken belief so induced, nor why he should in equity profit by his conduct in making the niggardly contribution to her support of approximately \$9.50 per month for the five years preceding the hearing — the amount arrived at by giving full credence to his own testimony as to such payments.

“* * * laches cannot be imputed to one who was ignorant of the facts and for that reason failed to assert his rights, and on such ground, to bar relief against fraud, laches must not only consist of delay but of a delay which worked a disadvantage to the opposing party.’ *Burningham v. Burke*, supra.

“The evidence was clearly insufficient to support the finding or justify the conclusion, whichever it may be designated, of laches.

“The cases cited by respondent to the effect that laches for many years may constitute a defense to contempt proceedings are no authority for his contention that the failure of an aggrieved party to immediately enforce payment of an award of alimony and support money may be treated as laches.”

Because of defendant’s poor “physical condition” the plaintiff has of necessity been required to seek employment, which she did immediately after the divorce decree in order to support herself and

the two minor children. As shown by her testimony and her repeated demands upon the plaintiff she has constantly been after the defendant to make additional payments and to bring the payments to date. As shown by the plaintiff's testimony, the children themselves, because of the failure of defendant to make his payments, have suffered by not having the proper dental care for their teeth at the time when they should have been cared for. The court only has to read the testimony of the plaintiff in this regard to fully understand that because the children were not receiving the full amount they had to forego the necessary dental repairs they needed.

It is true the plaintiff has not brought a court action to secure judgment for the delinquency prior to the instant hearing and the defendant seems to take great comfort in the fact that if the plaintiff had wanted the back money that she would have proceeded with the matter in court. A slight perusal of the defendant's own testimony with respect to his earning capacity in the past is indicative of how futile a court action at such time would have been. Certainly the defendant cannot say that the plaintiff has waived her rights by failing to bring a court action. By Plaintiff's own testimony it is apparent that the plaintiff could not waive this right of the children's support when the children were so definitely in need of that support. Defendant's biggest

argument is to the effect that since the plaintiff is working and has been since shortly after the decree of divorce, that he should no longer be required to comply with the court's order and pay the \$100.00 per month for the support of the children, regardless of whether they need it or not. If defendant's contention in this regard is to be accepted, then any divorced father can merely sit by until his former wife obtains employment, and then come into court and say, look my former wife is now working, therefore, the support payments for the children should be reduced or entirely eliminated as to anything that I have not paid in the past. The defendant's argument is totally without logic.

Defendant quotes from the case of *Larsen v. Larsen*, 5 Utah 2d 224, 300 P. 2d 596 for the proposition that since defendant testified with respect to his grounds for estoppel, even though not believed by the lower court, that he is now under the doctrine of the *Larsen* case relieved of the obligation of any accrued arrearages. It should be noted that the court in this case specifically found that the evidence was sufficient to support findings for either party on issue of plaintiff's laches, acquiescence, and equitable estoppel following her recovery. Therefore, the court remanded it to the trial court for a specific finding with respect to said issue. The lower court in the instant case has specifically

found in its Finding of Fact (R. 66): "That during the period of said delinquency, the plaintiff made constant and repeated demands upon defendant to make said support money payments, and that defendant failed and refused to make the payments as set forth by the order of the court dated November 10, 1956." And again with respect to defendant's grounds for estoppel, the court should specifically examine the testimony of the one conversation upon which defendant bases his grounds for estoppel as set forth in the Statement of Fact by plaintiff. The facts of the Larsen case are entirely different than those in the instant case; therefore, said case would have no bearing upon the decision in this case.

In what way has the defendant changed his position in order to invoke the doctrine of estoppel? He was ordered to pay the bills as set forth in the decree of the court, some of which he paid and some of which he did not pay. And he was ordered to make monthly payments to the plaintiff, a portion of which he has paid and the majority of which he has not paid.

POINT 2.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO PERMIT THE SISTER OF THE DEFENDANT, DONNA PETTY, TO TESTIFY.

With respect to Point 2 of the defendant's argument, the defendant set forth in full and the

plaintiff has repeated defendant's statement in her Statement of Fact, the one conversation upon which he claims to rely for his grounds of estoppel. Certainly the sister of the defendant could not elaborate beyond that particular statement. The matters as set forth in Point 1 of plaintiff's brief are equally applicable to Point 2.

POINT 3.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING DEFENDANT GUILTY OF CONTEMPT FOR HIS FAILURE TO MAKE THE FULL PAYMENT SINCE HIS EMPLOYMENT AT SPERRY'S.

The defendant has taken great pains in his brief to show that although he has only paid the plaintiff the sum of \$60.00 per month, that in reality he has been paying her in full because, as he states, he was spending \$10.00 a month on the children and, in addition, the plaintiff took the children as dependents on her income tax return, which gave her another \$20.00 or \$21.00 per month. And, further, that the defendant has maintained since his employment at Sperry's medical insurance to cover the medical expenses of the children. The reasoning of the defendant in these respects no matter how commendable it may or may not be certainly is not complying with the order of the court as set forth in the decree of divorce. The decree did not authorize the defendant to enter into these alternative programs, but made a specific requirement that the

defendant pay the sum of \$100.00 per month, which he has not done and has failed and refused to do.

Further, the defendant in setting up his monthly expenses, pays the entire rent for the apartment for both himself and his present wife although she is working. Secondly, he buys the groceries for the sum of \$60.00 per month. When asked if his present wife paid any portion of the groceries, his statement was that "she buys things from time to time". Further, the defendant set forth that he is obligated to spend \$8.00 for laundry, \$5.00 for a barber, \$10.00 for clothes, \$35.00 or \$40.00 per month for an automobile that he doesn't own. Further that they have accumulated furniture since he married his present wife although he has never paid for any portion of it; they have accumulated an automobile however he didn't pay anything with respect to the automobile; that his present wife has made all of the payments in that respect. And then again he says he can only pay \$60.00 per month because he has to spend \$10.00 per month on the children. Here again this is not the defendant coming into court with clean hands to show good cause why he has not complied with the order of the court, but rather a defendant trying to rationalize his expenses so as to justify the amount which he wants to pay for the support of the minor children.

With respect to defendant's contention that he

will lose his job if he is required to spend thirty days in jail. Certainly the plaintiff is not desirous that the defendant lose his employment. It has taken him since 1956 to the present time to obtain employment whereby he could in some half measure comply with the order of the court and attempt to support his minor children. The plaintiff does not want him to lose his job. However, the defendant has got to be made to realize the necessity of complying with the court's order and to give his children the support they are entitled to and which he can afford to pay.

POINT 4.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN COMMITTING THE DEFENDANT TO JAIL FOR THIRTY DAYS.

No argument is necessary with respect to Point 4 of defendant's brief.

POINT 5.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S PETITION FOR MODIFICATION OF THE DIVORCE DECREE TO REDUCE THE AMOUNT OF SUPPORT MONEY PAYABLE BY THE DEFENDANT TO THE PLAINTIFF.

The defendant proved no material change in circumstance the entering of the divorce decree. Pursuant to the facts, it was clearly brought out that defendant, at the time the decree was entered, was unemployed and was still ordered to pay the

sum of \$50.00 per month per child. Since that time the defendant's position has been bettered measurably. He is now steadily employed earning a net take-home pay of \$300.00 per month. The defendant's contention that since the plaintiff is now working therefore the defendant does not need to support the children to the extent that he was required to do so when he was totally unemployed is without merit. The needs of the children as illustrated by the plaintiff are adequately set forth in the Statement of Fact of the plaintiff and will not be duplicated here. However, the court's attention should be called to such statements of the plaintiff and the immediate needs of the minor children for dental care, clothing, and the social needs of the children as set forth by the plaintiff.

Plaintiff respectfully submits that the judgment and order of the Third District Court should be affirmed.

Respectfully submitted,

LELAND S. McCULLOUGH
Attorney for
Plaintiff-Respondent
304 East First South
Salt Lake City, Utah